1993

# Lowell E. Potter v. Century 21 Mining, and OTC Stock Transfer : Brief of Appellant

Utah Court of Appeals

### JURISDICTION OF THE COURT

This is an appeal from a final Order dated January 15, 1993, wherein the lower court denied Defendant/Appellant's Motion to Set Aside Default Judgment. This Court has jurisdiction to hear this appeal pursuant to Utah Code Annotated § 78-2a-3(2)(k).

### STATEMENT OF ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

1. Did the lower court err in denying Defendant/Appellant's Motion to Set Aside Default Judgment that had been entered without notice to Century? In addressing the issue, the Appellate Court will review the lower court's decision for correctness and accord no particular deference to the decision of the lower court. Aliva v. Winn, 794 P.2d 20 (Utah 1990). The authorities cited by Defendant/Appellant on this issue are as follows: Rule 5(a), Utah Rules of Civil Procedure; Rule 55(a), (b), Utah Rules of Civil Procedure; Russell v. Martell, 681 P.2d 1193 (Utah 1984); P & B Land, Inc. v. Klungervick, 751 P.2d 274 (Utah App. 1988); Nelson v. Jacobsen, 669 P.2d 1207 (Utah 1983); Gribble v. Gribble, 583 P.2d 64 (Utah 1978); Wells v. Children's Aid Society, 681 P.2d 199 (Utah 1984).

2. Did the lower court err in concluding that Defendant/Appellant failed to timely file its Motion to Set



Aside Default Judgment? In addressing the issue, the Appellate Court will review the lower court's decision for correctness and accord no particular deference to the decision of the lower court. Lincoln Benefit Life Ins. Co. v. D. T. Southern Properties, 838 P.2d 672 (Utah App. 1992). The authorities cited by Defendant/Appellant on this issue are as follows: Rule 60(b), Utah Rules of Civil Procedure; Rule 58A(d), Utah Rules of Civil Procedure; Bish's Sheet Metal Co. v. Luras, 359 P.2d 21 (Utah 1961); Blackhurst v. Transamerica Ins. Co., 699 P.2d 688 (Utah 1985); Mendez v. State, 813 P.2d 1234 (Utah App. 1991); Workman v. Nagle Construction, Inc., 802 P.2d 749 (Utah App. 1990) McKean v. Mountain View Memorial Estates, Inc., 411 P.2d 129 (Utah 1966); Dudley v. Keller, 521 P.2d 175 (Colo.App. 1974); Heathman v. Fabian & Clendenin, 377 P.2d 189 (Utah 1962); Interstate Excavating, Inc. v. Agla Dev. Corp., 611 P.2d 369 (Utah 1980).

3. Did the lower court err in denying Defendant/Appellant's Motion to Set Aside Default Judgment on grounds that Defendant/Appellant had failed to present meritorious defenses? In addressing the issue, the Appellate Court will review the lower court's decision for correctness and accord no particular deference to the decision of the lower court. Scaharf v. BMG Corporation, 700 P.2d 1068 (Utah 1985); Grayson

Ropper Ltd. v. Finlinson, 782 P.2d 467 (Utah 1989). The authorities cited by Defendant/Appellant on this issue are as follows: Boston Acme Mines Dev. Co. v. Clawson, 240 Pac. 165 (Utah 1925); Richardson v. Arizona Fuels Corp., 614 P.2d 636 (Utah 1980); Nicholson v. Evans, 642 P.2d 727 (Utah 1982); Hoggan & Hall & Higgins, Inc. v. Hall, 414 P.2d 89 (Utah 1966); Berry v. Slagle, 431 P.2d 575 (Utah 1967); Jones Mining Company v. Cardiff Mining & Milling Company, 191 Pac. 426 (Utah 1920); Davis v. Heath Dev. Co., 558 P.2d 594 (Utah 1976); Glen Allen Mining Co. v. Park Galena Mining Co., 236 Pac. 231 (Utah 1931).

4. Did the lower court abuse its discretion in denying Defendant/Appellant's Motion to Set Aside Default Judgment? If the lower court made no erroneous legal conclusions with respect to construction of the Rules of Procedure or the legal sufficiency of anticipated defenses (see cases cited above), the lower court is afforded broad discretion and the Appellate Court will reverse only for abuse of discretion. Birch v. Birch, 771 P.2d 1114 (Utah App. 1989). The authorities cited by Defendant/Appellant on this issue are as follows: Workman v. Nagle Construction, Inc., 802 P.2d 749 (Utah App. 1990) Bish's Sheet Metal Co. v. Luras, 359 P.2d 21 (Utah 1961); Dudley v. Keller, 521 P.2d 175 (Colo.App. 1974) Helgesen v.

Inyangumia, 636 P.2d 1079 (Utah 1981).

#### **DETERMINATIVE AUTHORITIES**

Defendant/Appellant does not contend any authorities are determinative of any issue involved in the appeal. However, the following Rules of Procedure are central to the issues to be considered by this appeal: Rule 5(a), (b) U.R.C.P. (attached as Addendum Exhibit "E"); Rule 55(a), (b) U.R.C.P. (attached as Addendum Exhibit "F"); Rule 58A(d) U.R.C.P. (attached as Addendum Exhibit "G"); and, Rule 60(b), U.R.C.P. (attached as Addendum Exhibit "H").

#### **STATEMENT OF THE CASE**

##### **NATURE OF CASE AND DISPOSITION IN LOWER COURT**

In addressing the issues raised by this appeal, Plaintiff/Appellee Lowell E. Potter will be referred to as "Potter" and Defendant/Appellant Century 21 Mining Company will be referred to as "Century."

On or about September 13, 1988, Potter commenced this action by the filing of a Verified Complaint. (R. 2-6). In Count III of the Complaint, Potter sought to enforce a promissory note which he alleged was dated February 28, 1986, in the principal sum of \$90,000. (R. 2-5). In Count IV of

the Complaint, Potter alleged that the Note "was to secure a purchase price of five million (5,000,000) shares of Century 21 stock" and Potter sought rescission of the Promissory Note (R. 4). The other allegations of the Complaint have little relevance to the issues involved on appeal.<sup>1</sup>

Century's prior attorney, Nathan Drage, was justifiably confused as to the purpose for the commencement of the instant action by reason of unorthodox procedures and the pendency of previously filed litigation which asserted the same claim. In an attempt to resolve the confusion, the matter was discussed between counsel for Potter and Century, and Century's attorney was informed that no further action would be taken in the matter without further notice. In reliance on this representation, counsel for Century did not file an answer to the Complaint.

On December 2, 1988, contrary to the prior representation of Potter's attorney and without notice to Century or its attorney, Potter obtained a Default Judgment against Century (R. 21-22, Addendum Exhibit "B"). Thereafter, the existence

---

<sup>1</sup> Count I of the Verified Complaint alleged that Defendant had wrongfully refused to honor stock certificate 11391 issued by Century (R. 2-3). Count II asserted claims relating to such refusal. In this regard, discovery in a subsequent case entitled "Lowell E. Potter, Plaintiff v. TV Communications Network, Inc., et al., Defendants" Civil No. 920905554, pending in the Third Judicial District Court, has established that certificate 11391 was later submitted and honored by the transfer agent. Thus, the issues relating to Counts I and II are now moot.

of the Judgment was not disclosed by Potter to Century or its attorney.

When Century's prior attorney learned of the Judgment from a third party in December, 1989, he filed a Motion to Set Aside Judgment. On January 15, 1993, the lower court entered an Order denying Century's Motion to Set Aside Default Judgment (R. 94-95, Addendum Exhibit "D"). The Order of January 15, 1993, denying Century's Motion to Set Aside Default Judgment, is the subject of this appeal.

#### **STATEMENT OF FACTS RELEVANT TO ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW**

On March 18, 1987, Potter commenced an action against Century alleging Century was "indebted" to Potter in the sum of \$110,000 (hereinafter "1987 action") (R. 43). On June 2, 1987, Century filed an Answer to the Complaint in the 1987 action denying liability for the "indebtedness" (R. 44). Apparently unwilling to subject his claims to the scrutiny of litigation, Potter abandoned prosecution of the 1987 action.<sup>2</sup>

On September 13, 1988, while the 1987 action was still pending, Potter commenced the instant action asserting the

---

<sup>2</sup>

On May 31, 1989, the 1987 action was dismissed for lack of prosecution (R. 46).

same claims that had been asserted in the 1987 action.<sup>3</sup> On the same date that the instant action was filed, Potter obtained an Order to Show Cause requiring Defendants to appear and show cause why the relief demanded in Count I of the Complaint should not be granted. The Order to Show Cause was originally prepared to reflect a hearing date in September, but was apparently changed after execution by the Court to show a hearing date of November 2, 1988 (R. 6).

The Order to Show Cause was the equivalent of a motion for summary judgment with respect to Count I of the Verified Complaint and was apparently characterized as an Order to Show Cause in order to circumvent the 20-day restriction relating to summary judgments filed by Plaintiffs imposed by Rule 56(a), Utah Rules of Civil Procedure.<sup>4</sup>

Despite the fact the Complaint was filed on September 13, 1988, and the Order to Show Cause entered on the same date, the Complaint and Order to Show Cause were not delivered to

---

<sup>3</sup> The Promissory Note which is the subject of the instant action was in existence on the date of the filing of the 1987 action and the principal and accrued interest (18% per annum) on the date of the filing of the Complaint in the 1987 action (\$107,000) was approximately the same as the demand for relief stated in the 1987 action (\$110,000). Although the allegations of the 1987 action are brief and incomplete, it is apparent that the demand for \$3,000 in excess of principal and accrued interest was attributable to costs and/or attorney's fees.

<sup>4</sup> The original Order to Show Cause noted a hearing date in September, 1988 (R. 6). The Order to Show Cause was later changed by interlineation to November 2, 1988 (Ibid).

the sheriff for service on Century until October 20, 1988 (R. 8-9, 10-12) apparently to reduce Century's preparation time. Service of the Complaint and Order to Show Cause was not accomplished until October 24, 1988 (R. 8-9, 10-12). Service was made on Leonard Nielson, registered agent for Century 21 (Ibid). The registered agent mailed the Summons, Complaint and Order to Show Cause to Century's attorney Ronald L. Vance on October 28, 1988 (R. 48).

The documents were received by Ronald L. Vance and his associate, Nathan Drage, on October 30, 1988 (Drage Affidavit, para. 2, R. 50) only three days before the scheduled hearing stated in the amended Order to Show Cause (Drage Affidavit, para. 2, R. 50). Upon observing the unorthodox procedure, the suspicious interlineation changes on the Order to Show Cause and the inadequate Notice of Hearing on the dispositive "motion," Drage immediately contacted the court clerk to determine the legitimacy of the hearing date (Drage Affidavit, para. 6, R. 51). Drage was informed by the clerk that no such hearing had been scheduled on the court's calendar (Ibid).

Immediately after the telephone conversation with the court clerk, Drage telephoned Potter's attorney, Richard Leedy, to express his confusion arising from the unorthodox procedure, the interlineation change on the hearing date, the

absence of a hearing date on the court's calendar and the purpose in filing the litigation in light of the pendency of the 1987 action asserting the same claim. At that time, attorney Leedy informed Drage that Drage need not take any further action in the matter without further notice (Drage Affidavit, para. 7, R. 51).<sup>5</sup>

It was apparent that on and after November 1, 1988, Potter's attorney, Richard Leedy, was fully aware that Ronald Vance and/or his associate, Nathan Drage, had been engaged by Century to defend the instant action as well as the 1987 action asserting the same indebtedness claim.<sup>6</sup>

On November 4, 1988, only three days after attorney Leedy had represented that no further action would be taken without notice to Drage, Leedy filed a Notice of Hearing stating that hearing on the Order to Show Cause would be held on December 2, 1988 (R. 19). Contrary to the express representation made to Drage only three days earlier, a copy of the Notice was not sent or delivered to Century or its attorneys. The Mailing Certificate on the Notice of Hearing made no mention of

---

<sup>5</sup> In his Affidavit dated May 21, 1990, attorney Leedy did not deny his representation to attorney Drage that no further action would be taken without further notice (Affidavit of Richard Leedy, para. 3, R. 70-70A). Leedy merely stated he had "no independent recollection of the conversation and/or stipulation" (Ibid).

<sup>6</sup> Ronald Vance filed an answer to the Complaint in the 1987 action on June 2, 1987 (R. 44).



Century or its attorney (R. 19) and Drage confirmed that he received no notice of the hearing (Drage Affidavit, para. 11, R. 52). On the date the Notice of Hearing was filed, Century was not in default. On the contrary, on the date of the Notice of Hearing, the time permitted to answer the Complaint had not yet expired. Thus, Century was entitled to receive notice of the hearing.

Inasmuch as Drage received no notice of the hearing scheduled for December 2, 1988, the hearing proceeded without participation of Century or its attorney, Nathan Drage (R. 21). During the course of the hearing, attorney Leedy, on behalf of Potter, apparently noted Century's failure to answer the Complaint and moved for entry of default judgment (R. 21). There is disturbing evidence that Potter's counsel may have represented to the court at the hearing that Century had stipulated to the entry of a default judgment. The Minute Entry prepared by the court stated: "Based on Pltf's Motion to Default Deft's and stipulation of respective counsel, the court hereby grants the motions." (Emphasis added) (R. 20, Addendum Exhibit "A"). The lower court granted Potter's motion and entered Century's default and ordered a default judgment against Century in the sum of \$90,000 together with interest at the rate of 18% per annum and attorney's fees in

the sum of \$1,500 (Ibid).

After the entry of the Judgment, the existence of the Judgment was concealed. At no time did Potter provide Century notice of the entry of the judgment.<sup>7</sup> Nathan Drage, attorney for Century, first learned of the existence of the Judgment from a third party in December, 1989 (Drage Affidavit, para. 11, R. 52).

After learning of the existence of the Judgment, attorney Drage, on behalf of Century, filed a Motion to Set Aside Default Judgment (R. 23-24) with an accompanying Memorandum (R. 26-41), supporting Affidavits (R. 50-52; 55; 58-60) and other supporting documents. (See R. 57).

The Memorandum and affidavits submitted by Century in support of its Motion to Set Aside Default Judgment established the existence of meritorious defenses. Century provided documentation showing clear evidence of self-dealing and related failure of consideration for the Promissory Note. In this regard, Potter and his son, Thomas Potter, constituted two of the three members of Century's Board of Directors at the time Century purportedly "approved" the \$90,000 debt to Potter. The resolution purporting to approve Century's

---

<sup>7</sup>

The file contains no notice of entry of judgment as required by Rule 58A(d). U.R.C.P.

obligation was signed only by Potter and his son (R. 57). The third Board member's signature is conspicuously absent from the resolution (Ibid). Furthermore, the Promissory Note was executed in consideration for the purchase of 5,000,000 shares of Century stock held by Potter (Verified Complaint, para. 19, R. 4; R. 57). After receiving the Promissory Note, Potter failed and refused to deliver the 5,000,000 shares of Century stock (R. 55, 30). The transactions described in the resolution, Potter's involvement in voting on a resolution for his own benefit and Potter's conduct after the resolution, establish the existence of the defenses of breach of fiduciary duties and failure of consideration.

On the basis of these facts, Century has justiciable defenses including breach of fiduciary duty; lack of consideration; and, absence of valid corporate authorization for the indebtedness.

#### **SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT**

Point I. On November 4, 1988, Potter filed a notice of a hearing to be held before the lower court on December 2, 1988. On the date the notice was filed, the time permitted for Century to file its answer to the Complaint had not yet expired. Thus, Century was not in default and entitled to

notice of all hearings. Despite the fact that Potter's attorney was fully aware of the identity of Century's registered agent and attorneys, Potter did not serve notice of the hearing on Century or its attorneys and the hearing proceeded in Century's absence. During the course of the hearing in the absence of Century and its attorney, Potter obtained a default judgment against Century. The default judgment was obtained in violation of the due process procedures specified in the Utah Rules of Civil Procedure which require notice of hearing in this circumstance. The lower court erred in refusing to set aside the default judgment obtained in violation of due process procedures.

Point II. Century's Motion To Set Aside Default was based, in part, on Potter's failure to comply with the due process procedures of adequate notice. Such grounds fall within the provisions of Rule 60(b)(7), U.R.C.P., which are not subject to a three-month filing restriction. The lower court erred in denying Century's Motion To Set Aside Default on the ground it was not filed within the three-month period. On the basis of the facts and circumstances, including Potter's abandonment of a prior action on the same claim and concealment of the judgment in the instant case, Century's Motion To Set Aside Default was timely filed.

Point III. By reason of Potter's status as a director of Century and his involvement in the corporate resolution purporting to authorize Century's indebtedness to Potter, the Promissory Note is void. Furthermore, Potter failed to deliver the consideration for the Promissory Note. In such circumstances, the lower court erred in concluding that Century had not demonstrated the existence of meritorious defenses.

Point IV. The default judgment was obtained on the basis of representations on the part of Potter's attorney and other actions expressly designed to induce Century's attorney to delay filing an answer or otherwise defending against the allegations of the Complaint. In such circumstances, the lower court abused its discretion by denying Century's Motion To Set Aside Default Judgment thereby allowing Potter to benefit by his deception and the violation of Century's procedural rights.

### **ARGUMENT**

#### **POINT I**

**THE LOWER COURT ERRED IN DENYING CENTURY'S MOTION TO SET ASIDE A DEFAULT JUDGMENT ENTERED WHICH WAS WITHOUT NOTICE TO CENTURY IN VIOLATION OF RULE 5(a), U.R.C.P.**

As noted in the Statement of Facts, on November 4, 1988, Potter prepared and filed a Notice of Hearing to be held on

December 2, 1988. It is undisputed that Potter did not serve a copy of the notice on Century or its attorney.<sup>8</sup> During the course of the hearing on December 2, 1988, the default judgment was entered against Century.

On the date the Notice of Hearing was filed, Century had not filed an answer to the Complaint. However, on the date the Notice of Hearing was filed, the time permitted for answering the Complaint had not expired.<sup>9</sup> Thus, Century was entitled to notice of the hearing on December 2, 1988. Rule 5(a), Utah Rules of Civil Procedure.

At no time prior to the hearing on December 2, 1988, including the period after Century's answer became due, was Century's default entered in accordance with Rule 55(a), Utah Rules of Civil Procedure. Thus, at all times prior to the hearing on December 2, 1988, Century was entitled to notice of all proceedings in the litigation. Rule 55(a)(2), Utah Rules of Civil Procedure.<sup>10</sup>

---

<sup>8</sup> The Notice of Hearing did not include Century or its attorney on the mailing certificate (R. 19) and attorney Drage confirmed the absence of notice (Drage Affidavit, para. 11, R. 52).

<sup>9</sup> The Summons and Complaint were served on October 24, 1988 (R. 10-12). Thus, an answer was not due until November 13, 1988, nine days after the Notice of Hearing was filed.

<sup>10</sup> A litigant is released from an obligation to give opposing parties notice only "after the entry of the default of any party, as provided in subdivision (a)(1) of this Rule . . ." Rule 55(a)(2), Utah Rules of Civil Procedure. Century's default was not entered until December 2, 1988, immediately before entry of the default judgment (R. 21).

During the course of the scheduled hearing on December 2, 1988, the default of Defendant was first entered simultaneously with entry of the default judgment. At all times prior thereto, Century was entitled to notice of any proceedings. Rule 5(a), Utah Rules of Civil Procedure; Rule 55(a), Utah Rules of Civil Procedure. It is readily apparent that if the required notice had been given, the default judgment would not have been entered. The notice would have advised Century that Potter's counsel misrepresented his intentions and had reneged on the stipulation thereby prompting Century to file an answer and otherwise protect its interests. Furthermore, if Potter's counsel falsely represented Century had stipulated to the default<sup>11</sup>, the notice would have allowed Century to be present to deny the existence of the stipulation.

At the time of the entry of the default judgment, the court file clearly reflected that the Notice of Hearing had been filed before Century's answer was due and that Century had not received notice of the hearing. Century's absence from the hearing should have prompted some inquiry by the

---

<sup>11</sup> As previously noted, the wording of the court's Minute Entry arising out of the December 2, 1988, hearing indicates Potter's attorney may have represented to the court that Century had stipulated to the default (R. 20, Appendix Exhibit "A").

lower court as to the reason therefore.<sup>12</sup>

Parties in default retain some procedural rights as stated in the Rules of Civil Procedure. Russell v. Martell, 681 P.2d 1193 (Utah 1984). It follows with greater force that parties not in default under Rule 55(a) are entitled to the procedural rights stated in the Rules of Procedure.

The failure of the lower court to demand compliance with the procedural provisions of the Rules of Procedure compels reversal of the judgment which was entered in violation of the Rules. P & B Land, Inc. v. Klungervick, 751 P.2d 274 (Utah App. 1988); Russell v. Martell, 681 P.2d 1193 (Utah 1984).

The failure of Potter to provide Century with Notice of Hearing on December 2, 1988, goes beyond violation of the Rules of Procedure. The matter involves violation of basic concepts of fairness and due process of law. In Nelson v. Jacobsen, 669 P.2d 1207 (Utah 1983), the Utah Supreme Court held:

Timely and adequate notice and  
opportunity to be heard in a meaningful  
way are the very heart of procedural  
fairness . . . .

---

<sup>12</sup> The lower court apparently failed to observe that the Notice of Hearing was filed prior to the time Century's answer was due. In its Minute Entry, the court stated: "In this circumstance there is no obligation under the rules or the statutes for a party taking the default to give notice thereof to the opposition" (R. 91, Addendum, Exhibit "C").



An elementary and fundamental requirement of due process in any proceeding which is to be accorded finality is notice reasonably calculated, under all the circumstances, to apprise interested parties of the pendency of the action and afford them an opportunity to present their objections. The notice must be of such nature as reasonably to convey the required information, and it must afford a reasonable time for those interested to make their appearance.

Many cases have held that where notice is ambiguous or inadequate to inform a party of the nature of the proceedings against him or not given sufficiently in advance of the proceeding to permit preparation, a party is deprived of due process. Accord, Gribble v. Gribble, 583 P.2d 64 (Utah 1978); Wells v. Children's Aid Society, 681 P.2d 199 (Utah 1984).

By reason of the apparent intentional failure of Potter to provide Century with notice of hearing wherein the default judgment was entered, in clear violation of the Rules of Civil Procedure and basic concepts of due process, the order of the trial court should be reversed and the default judgment should be set aside.

#### POINT II

#### THE LOWER COURT ERRED IN CONCLUDING CENTURY'S MOTION TO SET ASIDE DEFAULT JUDGMENT WAS UNTIMELY FILED

In its Minute Entry dated January 13, 1993, the lower court considered Century's Rule 60(b) motion as based solely on "excusable neglect" and denied the motion as untimely

(R. 91, Addendum Exhibit "C"). In this regard, a motion under Rule 60(b)(1) ("Mistake, Inadvertence, Surprise and Excusable Neglect") must be filed "not more than three months after the judgment . . . was entered."

The ruling by the lower court was clearly erroneous. Century's Motion To Set Aside Default Judgment was not limited to excusable neglect. On the contrary, paragraph 4 of the Motion also asserted: "Counsel for Plaintiff took a default judgment against Century 21 Mining without notice to Century 21 Mining or its counsel resulting in a lack of due process of law." (R. 24). The facts supporting this ground for vacating the default judgment are considered in Point I, supra.

It is established that a motion under Rule 60(b), asserting failure of due process, falls within subdivision 7 of Rule 60, i.e., "any other reason justifying relief from the operation of the judgment." Bish's Sheet Metal Co. v. Luras, 359 P.2d 21 (Utah 1961). Rule 60(b)(7) is not subject to the three month time limitation imposed by the lower court. Thus, the imposition of time constraints relating to "excusable neglect" was erroneous and imposed time limitations upon Century not stated in Rule 60(b).

Admittedly, Century's prior attorney did not file the motion until February 26, 1990, more than 14 months after the

judgment was entered. However, under the circumstances of the case, it is respectfully submitted that such delay was not unreasonable. It is undisputed that counsel for Potter expressly represented to Century's prior counsel that no further action would be taken in the matter without further notice. In this regard, the continued absence of any further notice for an extended period, including a period of 14 months, was not an unusual circumstance in this case. On the contrary, in the 1987 action Potter took no action on the same claim for a period of 26 months.<sup>13</sup>

Potter's involvement in Century's delay in filing its Rule 60(b) motion is not limited to the false representation of Potter's counsel and Potter's established practice of abandoning the claim after it was filed. In addition to these factors, Potter failed to comply with the provisions of Rule 58A(d), Utah Rules of Civil Procedure, which provide:

The prevailing party shall promptly give notice of the signing or entry of judgment to all other parties and shall file proof of service of such notice with the clerk of the court. However, the time for filing a notice of appeal is not affected by the notice requirement of this provision.

---

<sup>13</sup> The 1987 action was commenced on March 18, 1987 (R. 43) and was dismissed for failure to prosecute on May 31, 1989 (R. 46), a period of 26 months.

Century's failure to file its Motion under Rule 60(b)(7) for a period of 14 months is not unreasonable in the circumstances of this case. In Workman v. Nagle Construction, Inc., 802 P.2d 749 (Utah App. 1990), this Court held that a delay of more than one year in filing a motion under Rule 60(b)(5)-(7) was not unreasonable where the plaintiff had failed to give notice of the entry of the judgment pursuant to Rule 58A, Utah Rules of Civil Procedure. It follows with greater force that failure of both pre-judgment and post-judgment notice excuses delay in filing a motion under Rule 60(b)(7).

If anything is established by the record, it is that Potter was the primary force in inducing Century's delay in filing its motion under Rule 60(b). The combined effect of the false representation that no further action would be taken without notice; the failure to serve notice of the hearing on December 2, 1989; the prior abandonment of the same claim in the 1987 action; and, the failure to give notice of the judgment pursuant to Rule 58A(d) should be weighed against Century's only contribution to the delay, i.e., continuing good faith reliance on the representation and stipulation of Potter's attorney.

In such circumstance, the doctrine of equitable estoppel should be imposed by the Court to prevent Potter from benefitting from the misrepresentations of his attorney and delay which he induced. Blackhurst v. Transamerica Ins. Co., 699 P.2d 688 (Utah 1985); Mendez v. State, 813 P.2d 1234 (Utah App. 1991).

To the extent that Century's prior attorney's delay is deemed unreasonable, Century should not be subjected to an unjust judgment to which it has meritorious defenses merely by reason of the neglect of its attorney to whom it entrusted to represent its interests in the matter. McKean v. Mountain View Memorial Estates, Inc., 411 P.2d 129 (Utah 1966).; Dudley v. Keller, 521 P.2d 175 (Colo.App. 1974). Moreover, default judgments are not favored by the courts and are not in the interest of justice and fair play. Heathman v. Fabian & Clendenin, 377 P.2d 189 (Utah 1962). Any doubt as to the reasonableness of the filing should be resolved in favor of setting aside the default judgment. Interstate Excavating, Inc. v. Agla Dev. Corp., 611 P.2d 369 (Utah 1980).

On the basis of the foregoing, the order of the lower court denying Century's Motion to Set Aside Default Judgment should be reversed.

### POINT III

#### THE LOWER COURT ERRED IN CONCLUDING CENTURY HAD NOT DEMONSTRATED THE EXISTENCE OF MERITORIOUS DEFENSES

In its Minute Entry of January 13, 1993, one of the stated grounds for denying Century's Motion to Set Aside Default Judgment was that Century had not shown that it had meritorious defenses (R. 91, Addendum Exhibit "C").

This ruling by the lower court was clearly erroneous. In this regard, attached to Century's memorandum filed in support of its Motion, was a copy of the Minutes of the Board of Directors purporting to approve the \$90,000 indebtedness of Century in favor of Potter (R. 57) (hereinafter "Minutes").

The Minutes establish that at the time of the corporate "authorization" for the \$90,000 indebtedness, Potter and his son, Thomas Potter, comprised two of the three members of Century's Board of Directors. Thus, there was obvious self-dealing and serious questions of breach of fiduciary duties.

The Minutes involved a "special Board of Directors meeting" conducted in the absence of the third director, John L. Anderson. Mr. Anderson was the only director that did not have a personal interest in the matter. Although the Minutes recite that notice of the meeting was waived, John L. Anderson did not sign the Minutes and no signed waiver of notice has ever been produced. Anderson has confirmed to Century that he

received no notice of the meeting (R. 59). Furthermore, the Minutes expressly acknowledge the obvious conflict of interest which was openly ignored by Potter's participation in the self-serving "authorization" for indebtedness in his favor at the expense of the corporation.

The Promissory Note was executed by Century as consideration for the purchase of 5,000,000 shares of Century stock.<sup>14</sup> (Verified Complaint, para. 19, R. 4; R. 57). After receiving the Promissory Note, Potter refused to deliver the 5,000,000 shares (R. 55, 30).

These circumstances demonstrate the existence of meritorious defenses. In this regard, the absence of notice to all directors of a special meeting of the Board renders the Board action void. Boston Acme Mines Dev. Co. v. Clawson, 240 Pac. 165 (Utah 1925). Furthermore, a director has a fiduciary duty to the corporation. Richardson v. Arizona Fuels Corp., 614 P.2d 636 (Utah 1980); Nicholson v. Evans, 642 P.2d 727 (Utah 1982); Hoggan & Hall & Higgins, Inc. v. Hall, 414 P.2d 89 (Utah 1966); Berry v. Slagle, 431 P.2d 575 (Utah 1967); Jones Mining Company v. Cardiff Mining & Milling Company, 191 Pac. 426 (Utah 1920). This duty requires the director to

---

<sup>14</sup> It was contemplated that the stock would be received by Century as treasury stock and thereafter delivered to Raymond Naylor as consideration for the purchase of a mining property (R. 55).

subordinate his personal interests to the interests of the corporation. Nicholson v. Evans, 642 P.2d 727 (Utah 1982); Hoggan & Hall & Higgins, Inc. v. Hall, 414 P.2d 89 (Utah 1966).

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