1993

Lowell E. Potter v. Century 21 Mining : Brief of Appellee

Utah Court of Appeals

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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

POINT I. C-21 had adequate opportunity to submit in a timely manner a motion to set aside default judgment and failed to do so; the trial court in reviewing all evidence before it on C-21's motion did not err in denying C-21's motion.

POINT II. C-21 did not demonstrate to the trial court that any basis under the applicable Utah Rules of Civil Procedure was met, nor did C-21 show that it had a meritorious defense to the original promissory note action, and therefore the trial court did not abuse its discretion in denying C-21's motion.

ARGUMENT

POINT I & POINT II

C-21, in its "Brief of Appellant", pages 6 through 12 attempts to rehash alleged facts which are not relevant to the issues presented to this appellate court. They are the same facts as presented in the Motion to Set Aside Judgment, and the subsequent memoranda in support of such motion that C-21

presented to the trial court and which the trial court fully reviewed.

The trial court made it clear in its minute entry the basis for the denial of C-21's motion and did not err nor abuse its discretion in doing so. The facts upon which the trial court based its decision are as follows:

1. Previous counsel for Potter properly took judgment against C-21 when C-21 failed to Answer Potter's Complaint after proper service of Summons and Complaint. (R. 20-22).

2. Potter's previous counsel has no recollection of any conversation with C-21's counsel regarding an alleged stipulation that no further proceedings would occur. (R. 70-71).

3. Potter's judgment was based upon a valid promissory note which was acknowledged by C-21 in a Report of Examination prepared by Certified Public Accountant, Scott L. Jensen, for C-21 on February 28, 1986, and noted that the note, payable on demand, would not be demanded until 12 months from that time (February 28, 1987). (R. 21-22).

4. After the judgment was taken on December 15, 1988, Potter began discussions with C-21, and its successors in interest, for payment of such judgment. (R. 73).

5. Negotiations had been ongoing through about January of 1990 for payment of the judgment. (R. 71-74).

6. The allegations set forth in C-21's Memorandum in Support of Motion to Set Aside Judgment are over broad and have nothing

to do with the promissory note and judgment thereupon. Such allegations are designed to cast a shadow upon Potter's character and raise issues that are beyond the scope of the issue of the promissory note. (R. 26-60).

7. It is simply too late for C-21 to raise issues that are counterclaim issues to the judgment based upon a promissory note. The judgment was issued on December 15, 1988. C-21 had not filed the motion to set aside until February 26, 1990, nearly fifteen (15) months after the judgment, and, more significantly, more than a year after Potter began negotiations on settlement of judgment with C-21 and its successors in interest. (R. 73).

8. C-21 had not raised a meritorious defense to the promissory note based judgment. (R. 91-95).

9. If C-21 wishes to sue Potter on the extraneous issues which are raised in its motion, which are issues constituting an alleged counterclaim not based upon the promissory note, then C-21 could have done so. However, the judgment is valid and should not be set aside based upon such extraneous allegations. (R. 92).

The trial court properly noted that in order for C-21 to be relieved from the default judgment, it must not only show that judgment was entered against it through excusable neglect, but must also show that its Motion to Set Aside was timely, and that it has a meritorious defense to the action. [See, State of Utah, et al. v. Musselman, et al., 667 P.2d 1053 (Utah 1983); see also, Larsen v. Collina, 684 P. 2d 52 (Utah 1984); Miller v.

Brocksmith, 825 P.2d 690 (Utah App. 1992); Lincoln Ben. Life v. D. T. Southern Prop., 838 P.2d 672 (Utah App. 1992); Home Sav. & Loan v. Aetna Cas. & Sur., 817 P.2d 341 (Utah App. 1991)].

In this case C-21 claims there was a stipulation between counsel that C-21 would not be required to answer the complaint. Potter's counsel has no recollection of such a stipulation. (See Affidavit of Richard J. Leedy, R. 70-70A).

C-21's Motion was not timely. Nearly fifteen months expired from the time the judgment was rendered until the time the Motion was filed. During that period of time Potter negotiated with C-21, and its successor in interest, for payment and/or settlement of the judgment. (see Affidavits of Lowell Potter and Thomas Potter, R. 71-77). C-21 clearly had actual knowledge of the judgment almost immediately after entry thereof.

Further, in denying a motion to set aside the default judgment entered against a defendant for fraudulent misrepresentation, the Utah Supreme Court determined that the trial court did not abuse its discretion in denying defendant's motion and stated that each case must be looked at on its own peculiar facts and circumstances, and no general rule can be laid down respecting discretion to be exercised by the Judge. [See, Heath v. Mower, 597 P.2d 855 (Utah 1979)]. The lower Court reviewed the facts of this case extensively, and made its findings based upon those facts rendering a proper decision to leave the default judgment intact. [See, Workman v. Nagle Construction, Inc., 802 P.2d 749 (Utah App. 1990)].

Notice of entry of the default judgment was not and is not a requirement of the Utah Rules of Civil Procedure in circumstances such as these. [See, Lincoln Ben. Life v. D. T. Southern Prop., 838 P.2d 672, 675 (Utah App. 1992)]. In any event, C-21 had actual notice of the judgment and acted upon it by negotiating with Potter for settlement before filing its motion to set aside the default judgment. (R. 71-74).